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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT -« - . SEC'Mail Processing
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS Sectian
JAN 08¢

ALBERT KRANTZBERG and JRENE )
KRANTZBERG, On Behalf of Themselves ) CIVILACTIONNO. ~ Washington, DC
and All Others Similarly Siruated, ) L A
—— i CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
vs. ) Y TRIAL DEMANDED

)
EVERGREEN FIXED INCOMETRUST,
EVERGREEN DISTRIBUTOR, INC., ,
WACHOVIA CORFORATION, DENNISH.
FERRO and KASEY PHILLIPS, \
Deferdanis. )

)

)

)

Plainiiffs, by their undersigned attomneys, allege upon information and belief (except as 1o
the allegations widch pertain to the named plaintiffs and their counsel which are allcged vpon
knowladge) based upon a review and analysis of relevant filings made with (lie Securities and
Exchange Commission ("SEC"), press releases, press repons and ap investigation conducled by
and through plaintiffs’ counsel.

NATURE OF ACTION

1. Plaintiffs bring this aclion as a ¢lass aclion on behalf of themselves and all others
simifarly sirasted who purchaszd rhares nf the Evergreen Ulte Shon Opportunides For (e
“Fund™). 1t was recently announced that the Fund will be liqnidated with shareholders of record
as of June 18, 2008 receiving a cash distrihurion based vn a $7.48 per share net asset value,

calcnjaled after ibe close of bustness on June 18, 2008. The amonn! 10 be paid 1o shareholders of”
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PARTIES

6. Plainti s Albert Kiantzberg and Irene Krantzberg, as sel forth in the certifications
attached herelo. purchastid shures of the Fund pussuant 1o apd’or raceable o the Repismanon
Slatement/Prospectus and were damaged theieby.

7. Defendan! Evergreen Fixed Income Trust (“Evergreen Trust™) is a Delaware
organized entiry that has its principal place of busineas at 200 Berkeley Sireet. Boston,
Massacbusetts. Itis one of several Evergreen-afliliaied entities that manage & variety of slock.
bond and money manket mutual funds, serving individual and instirutional investors. Evergreen
is a subsidiary of Wachovia Corporaiion. The Fund i8 a mutual fund of Defendant Evergreen
Trust, which is managed by Evergreen lnvesrzent Management Cuepany, LLC ("Evergreen
[nvestment™).

B. Defendant Evergreen Distributor, Inc, (“Evergreen Distributor™) markets end
distritanes Evergreen mutial funds, including the Fund. Iis principal place of business is jocated
a1 90 Park Avenue, New York, New York.

9. Defendam Wachovia Corporation (“*Wachowia”) is a diversified financial services
cownpany and one of the Jarges! such providers in the United States. It has reiail and commercial
banking operalions in 21 states aod natioawide retail brokerage, 1nortgage lending and auto
finance businesses. s headquarters are located at M1 South College Smeet, Suite 4000, One
Wachovia Center, Charlone, North Carolina.

(0.  Defendent Dennis H, Ferro i“Ferro™ is the Prexident and Chicl Executive Officer
of Evergreen Invesiment and is the Principal Executive Officer of Evergreen Trust. He signed

various documepts on behalf of Evergreen Investment, Evergreen Trust and/or related enlities
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the Fund in the liquidation js significantly lower than the price at which the Fund’s shares were
offered for sele 10 the public onty seven business days earlicr on June 9, 2008 of 35.07 per share.
Defendants made materially false or misleading statements with respect (o computing the Fund's
nel asset value ("NAV™) the Fund’s shares (the “Shares™) were to be mispriced when sold and
repurchased by the Fund. Plaimtiffs purchased at an intlated price and were also damaged by the
Tund s {adlurc 10 properly redeeny the Shares of the Fund ipvestors a1 a price representing the
carrect NAV. |

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. The claims alieged hereju arise under and pursuant to Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of
the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act™), 15 US.C. §§77k and 771(a¥2).

3. "This Court bas jurisdiction over the subject matier of this action pursuant lo
Sectiop 22(a) of the Securitres Act (15 U.S.C. §77v(a)) and 28 U.5.C. § 133).

4. Venue is propes i his dudicial Distritd pursuant 10 Seetion 224a) of the
Securties Act, 15 U.8.C. §77v(a), and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b). Many of the ac19 and transactions
elieged herein, including preparation and dissemination of the Regisiration Swatement and
Prospectus used 1o sell the Fund's shares occurred in substantial part in this Disnict.
Additiozslly, management of the Fund and the investment decisions regarding the Fund were
made within this District.

S. Jn connecrion with the acts, conduct and other wrongs alleged in this complaint,
Defendunts, direcily or indirecly, used the means and instrumentalities of inrerstate commerce,
incjuding but not Bmited o, the United States mails, intersiate 1elephone communications and the

facilities of the natiopal securities cxchange.
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that wete filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission {the “SEC"”), which
were allegedly materially false or misleading.

{}.  Deferdant Kasey Phillips (“Phillips") is the Principal Financia) Officer of
Evergreen Trust. He signed various documenis on behalf of Evergreen Investauent, Evergreen
Trust and/or related entilies that were filed wilh the SEC, which were allegedly materially false
or misicading.

12.  Defendants Ferro and Phillips are relerred to herein, a1 times, as the “Individual
Defendants,”

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

1}, Plaindffs bring this action as a class action pursnant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 23(a) and (bY3) on behalf of a class (the “Class") consisting of all persons who
purchased shares of the Fund pursuant io the Regisiration Swerement/Prospectus from Angust 17,
2007 uni! Tune |8, 2008, inclusive (the “Class Period™) upd were damaged thereby. Exchuded
fion the Class are Delendants herein, members of the immediste family of cach of the
Defendants, the officers and drrectors of the Defendant entities at all relevant times, any person,
1hrm, trus, corporation, eificer, director or niner individual or entity )n which any Defendant has
a controlling interest or whicb is related to or affiliated with any of the Defendants, and the legal
represenlatives, agenls, affiliates, heirs. successors-in-imarest or assigns of uny such exclnded
pary.

14, The members of the Class are so pumerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable, While the precise pumber of Class members is unknown 1o Plaintiffs at this time

and can only be sscertained through appropriate discovery, it i3 belicved 1o be in the thousands.
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18.  Aclass action is superior to other availsble methods for thie fair and efficient
adjudication of 1his conuoversy since joinder of oll members of the Class is impracticeble.
Further, because the damages suffered by individuel Class mombers may be relatively small. the
expense and byrden of individual litigation make it impossible for the Class members
individually 10 redress the wrongs done 10 them. There will be no difficulty in the management
of this ac1ion a5 a ¢lass actjon.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

19.  The Fund 1$ an open-end mumwal fund with the Shares being offered on 2
contiuvnus basis 10 the public pursuani 1o an amended repistration slatement filed with the SEC
on or about May 73, 2003 as a Furm 485 BPOS, a prospectus and amendments to the regiswation
stetewnent and prospectus supplements (the “Regisiration Statement/Prospectus”).

20.  Imeresis in the Fund firsl began 1o be public)y evailable on or about June 2, 2003
under the name Evergreen Ultra Short Bond Fund. Effective August 1, 2005, the Fund's name
was changed 1o Evergreen Ulma Short Opportunities Fund. The Fund is a diversified saiies
mutual fund of Defendant Evergreen Trust, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wecbovia. Evergreen
Investment is the investoient advisor to the Fund,

21, The Furd issued four classes of shares. The Fund calculated per share NAV for
each class of shares and disclosed nel asset Fund value on n per share class and e lotal fund basis.
On June 2, 2003, 1he first day i) began 1mding, the Fund's closing price wes 3310.04 per share,

22.  Wachovia so0ld sbares of the Fund to the Investing public through Evergreen
Distributor, which inarkeled the Fimd througb broker-dealess and otbers primarily affiliated with

Wachovia, Investors tn tbe Fund indirecly pay certein expenses, such as agvertising, marketing
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and sharchalder service expenses, pursuant to Rule 12b-1 of the lovestment Cornpany Act of
1940, as emended (“Rule ) 2b-17), Wachovia and/or its affiliates recetve Rule [2b-] foes from
the Fund, which amounted 1¢ as much as 1.00% of the reported NAV,

23.  From the time of its inceplion, the Fund grew from having assets of approximately
$41 milliou as of June 30, 2003 to having asscts of approximatety $947 million as of December
20, 2007.

24,  The Fund’s stated invesument goal was “(o provide current income constitent with
preservalion of capital and low principal Quctuation.” The purchase and sales prices for the Fund
are based upon the reported NAV, In the Regismation Siatemeni Prospectus it siated tha the
NAV is ealculated “using the value of the Fand’s assets as of 4:00 pum. ET on each day the New
York Stock Exchunge . . . is open for regular hading™ by “adding up 1ne Fund’s 1012l assets,
subtractiop al! linbililes, and then dividing the resulr by the wlal number oY sbares omsianding.”

in addition, it Slated Lhat: “the price per share thar you pay when you purchase shares of a Fund,
or the amount per share that ypu receive when you sell shares of 2 Fund, is based on the next
~ NAV caiculuted after your puschase or sole order is received (afier laking into account any
epplicabie sales charges) and all required mformation is provided.”

25.  Reparding valuing the Fund’s investmeats, the Regisiration Statement/Prospectus
slaled:

A Fund must determine the value of the securites in iis porttulio in
order to calenlate its NAV. A Fund gencrally valuzs pestfolico
sccurilies by using correny market prices. Moncy market securities
and short-term debr securities that roatire ip 60 days or less,

however, are generally vulued al awortized cos(, which
spgroximaces market value.
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Valuing securities al a "fair value”. If @ market price {or a security
is not readily available or is deemed unreliable, a Fund will use a
“fair value” of Lhe securiry as deterrmined under policics eswblished
and reviowed perindically by the Board of Trustee. . ..

¥ * *

Debt securitive with more than 60 doys to maturity. A Fund will
generally value debt securities (hat mature in more than 60 days for
which markel prices are unavailable by using matrix pricing or
othes methads, provided by an independens pricing service or otber
service, that rypically take into consideralron such factors as
similar secunty prices, vields, jpetunities, bquidity and ratings,

26.  These sunements were materially false or misleading because the NAV way
inaccurately calcalated and boyers and sellers of the Shawes were nol paying or receiving 8 price
per share (hat was tie Fund’s wrue NAV.

27.  The NAV of the Fund’s shares should have been much lower than the price at
which they were sold during the Class Penod. Instead, the Fund’s securities were incorrectly
valusd af up artificially inflaled price. Thus, shareholders who purchased Shares paid & price in
excess of the true value of the Fund and coutrary to the stated terms of the Registation
Statement/Prospectus. In additiou, as redemptions began 1o exceed sales, the Fund paid loo bigh
o price o redecrning shareholders, causing Plaintiffs and the other remaiaing shareholders of the
Fund 10 be damageq by those payments. Thus, 2s shareholders redeemed their shares, the selling
shareholders were gverpaid, depleting the Fund’s reserves and harming the Plaintiffs and the
other Class members.

28.  The Regisuation Starement/Prospectus highlighted the safety of investng in the
Fund hased wpon ils objective of praviding current incowne while still preserving capital and

having low principal fluctuation by representing thar the Fund principally invested in “investnient
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grade securilics” which were identified as being “rated in the 1op four retings categories (e.g.,
BBB/Baa or above) by 2 nationally recognized siaristical ratings oganization.” Moreover, the
Registration Statement/Prospectus siated that the Fund intended to mainwin “an average credit
quality of Aa3, as defined by Moody’s Luvestors Services, Inc. or an equivalent rating by another
nationally recognized statistical ratings organization.” |

29.  These salainents were materially false or misleading because the Fund in fuct,
employed a sualegy of investing in highly risky securitics that, duting the Class Period. were
illiquid or otherwise became difficult to value. 1t primarily invested in comunercial and
residential fived and variable rale mortgage-backed socurites, including collateralized mongage
obliguticns and other mongage-rslated ipvestments, and auction-raie securities. Many of these
securities were illigoid, had envatic pricing or had no reliable market quolation.

30 The mongagebacked securilies market began 1o significantlv seize-up during the
summer of 2007. Morigage-becked secunlies known ay collateralized debt obligations (CDOs")
hundied bopds or ioans thal were typically shiced inlo several parts or divided inlo tranches
puuriedly dependent on risk. The market ve]us of the CDO depended on the flow of principal
end interest paid by the borrower wliose morgage served as the underlying collateral, While the
country’s housing boom was vccurming, the value of CDOs backed by mortpages remained siable
because boryowers, rather ihan default, were able to refinanec because housing prices were
typically increasing. As housing prices began 10 level off or dechne, however, mare borrowers
were falling behind im their mortgage payments, were tupble to refinanve and the value of CDOs,

which were backed by such loans, bepan 10 decrease. In additiou, as adjusiable rale morteages
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began increasing the interest rales borrowers had to pay, defaulis began increasing. which
resulied in less funds going to the CDOs.

31.  Asthe credit erisis deepened dwing the summer of 2007, CDOs and other
morngage-backed securities increasingly began to loss value. Io addition, ¢ becaine more
difficult (o deiermine the accurale value of various invesmments as. in many cases, no market
existed for such securities.

32.  Then, on July 18, 2007. it was announced that 4 fund :ravazed by Bear Sicams
Co.. which primarily invested in mortgage backad securiges, had very Lttle value f2f for
investors and that the munagers of that fund were going to seek a winding-down of the fund.

33, Asihe liguidity crisis continved, Defendums should have been aware that ine
Fund's asses value wos sigmificantly impaired and 1hat the Fund's shares werce selling {or a higher
piice thap they should have boen soid. By August 17, 2007, the 1irst day of the Class Period.
Defendanws shouid have re-priced the Fund®s shares 10 reDecl its trug net asset value given the
numuil in he eredit market and the problemns valuing securities. such as those owned by the
Fund. On thar day, the Federal Reserve reduced the discount raie by 50 basis points o 5.75% in
reaction o the crisis in Liquidity. 1n a siaiement, the Federal Reserve sated that “financial wnarkel
conditions have delenoraled, and tighter credit conditions and increascd uncenainty have the
poteanal 1o restrain economic growth gomg forward.”

34, OnvJanuary 31, 2008, Brisiol-Myezs Squibb Co. {“Bristol-Myers") announced its
resnlts for the founh quarter of 2007 and for the year. Among olher ileans, it announced &

subsiantial impairment charge, whivh relsted 1o a wiite-down of securities with exposure Lo the

10
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credit market. Specifically, the write-down reiated to avction-rale securities that represenied
$811 million in current assets that were then velued at $419 million.

35.  The Bristol-Mvers impairmem charge relating to auction-rate secwilies was
quickly followed by ather actious indicating that severe problems existed with the market for
such securinies. In February 2008, the market for auction-rate securities collapsed as big dealers
such az UBS AG; Citigroup Inc. and Merrill Lynch & Co. stopped supporting auctions. causing
investors unable tw sell and making valuation problemalic.

36.  Defendants solicited fuvestors and sold shares of the Fund pussuant 10 the
Registration Statemcavlrospectus based on its inflatzd shace price. In addition, Defendants did
nat properly caloulate the price fos the Fucd's shares when they s0ld sueh sharey 1 the public
given the loss of value of mosigage-backed secwrities and’or the ithiquidity of auction-rate
securities.

37.  The Fund began 10 experience end Uicreasing mte of redemptions with reporied
o4} assets of $403 miliol representing 8 material decline from the $73 1.4 million reponied 101a)
as9¢€1s as of March 31, 2008. The effect of the over-pricing of the Fund dunng this period an! the
increasing redemptions was (v effcolively saddle Plaintifts Class with the dsmages from previous
over-pricing of the Fund.

38.  OuJdune 19, 2008, Evergreen Invesiment announced that the Board of Trystees of
Evergreen Funds approved of n plan (o liquidale the Fund. Sharcholders of record as of June 18,
2008 were 10 receive a cusb distribution based on a §7.48 per share NAY, which was calculated
after the close of busipess on lune 18, 2007. The NAV of the Fund had declined from $9.54 per

share us of December 31, 2007, a drop of approximalely 22%, As the price declined and

11
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rederaplions acceleraied, securilics held by the Fund were sold, but concern arose that the Fund
mighl not be able to scll sufficient securities 10 meet redemptions.

39.  Because of the decline in (he Fund's NAV and its planned liquidation, investars in
the Fund realized losses of approximately 25% in NAV during the Class Period.

40.  Plaimiffs and the other members of the Class acquired shares of the Fund during
the Class Period pursuant 1o the Registration Statement/Prospectus.

41.  Asaresult of (the actions of Defendants, Pluintiffs and the other members of the
Class have been damaged in that they purchased sharee of the Fund at prices thay were higher
than they should have been. Al the dmes they purchased or otherwise acquined sbures of the
Fung. Plaintffs and the other members of the Class were without knowledge of the facw
towcerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein, including the improper pricing of the shares,
ard tould not have tensonably discovered such facls prior 10 Jupe 19, 2008. Had the price {or 1he
Fund’s shares been properly esablished. Plaintiffs ond ihe other members ol 1he Class would not
have purchased such shares or would not have purchased such shares a1 the prices thal they paid.

COUNT1

Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act Against Delendant Evergreen Trust and the
1ndividual Defendants

4Z.  Plaionfls repral and reailege each and every allepation above as if set forth fully
herew. This Count is brought pursuant 1o Secijen H of the Securities Act, 15 U.8.C. §77k,
ageiny Defendant Evergreen Trusl and the Izdividual Defendants. This claim is pot based on
and does ng) sound in fraud. |

43, This claim is bronght by Plajntitis on their own behalf und oo behalf of other

wembers of the Class who acquircd Fund shares pursuani w (be Registration

12
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Staterment/Prospectus. Each Class member acquired their shares pursuant 1o and in reliance o,
the Registration Statement/Prospectns. The Registration Statement/Prospectus was false or
misieading, contained Unmue statements of material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary Lo
make the statements made not inisleading, and omirted to stere material facts required to be
staied therein, as described above, incinding that the Fund’s Shares were not propaily priced and
the starements regarding how the Shares were bought and sold at NAV. Evergreen Trusl is the
tssuer of the securilies through the Registration StatementProsgrectus, aud i3 respunsible for the
contents and (he disseminalion of the Registration Statement/Prospectus.

44,  The Defendants named in this Count owed 1o the purchasers of the Shares
obtained through the Hegistration Staternent/Progpectus the duty 1o make cerain that the Shares
were properly priced, and (har they conducied a reasonable and diligem investigation uf the
stesents contained in the Regismanon SwatepentTrospectus el the time they became effective
to ensure 1hat such stelcmenis were wrue and correct and that there was no omission of materjal
facts required 10 be slaled in order 10 make the suslerpents conlained therein not misleading.

45, Defendam Evergreep Trust issued and disseminsted, cauged 10 be jssued and
disscminaled, and participated in the issuance and dissemination of, material missiatemnents 1o
the mvesling public whith were contained in be Registration Statesnent/Prospectus, including
the pricing of the Sharcs, which misrepresented or failed 1o disclose, inrer alta, the facts set forth
above. By reason of the conduct hersin alleged, Defendant Evengreen Trusi violated Section 11
of the Securities Act.

46.  The ndividual Defendants hed 3 funciion similar 1o that of a director with the

Trust and are, therefore, liable under Seclion 11(2)(3).

13
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47.  Evergreen Trustis the issuer of the stock sald via the Registration
Statement/Prospectus, As issuer of the stock, it is strictly liablc o the Plaintiffs and tbe Ciass for
the material misstatemenis and omissions therein, including the mis-pricing of the Fund’s shares.

48 The Individual Defendants, failed to make & reasonable investigation gr possessed
reusanable gronnds for the behef thar the Shares of the Fund were priced propetly or thal he
statementis eontained in e Registeation Stalemeny/Prospectus were yue ar that there was no
omission of materig] facts necessary o make the statements inade therein nol misleading.

49.  Atthe times they oblained their Shares of the Futwd, the Plaisiffs and members of
the Class did so withour knowledge of the facts conceming Lhe misstalements oF DINISSONS
atleged herain,

3¢, This action is brought within one year afler discovery in this or a related aciion of
the unnue sialements and onnssions in and from the Regisralion Stutement/Prospectus should
frave been made vhrough the exercise of reasonable diligence, apd within three yeary of the 1ime
thal the securities upon which this Coun is brought were offered 10 the public,

51, By virtue of be forcgoing, the Pleinijffs and the other inembers of the Class are

entilled 1o dameges under Section 11 as measured by the provisions of Section 1!{e), rem

Defendent Evergreen Trust.
COUNT 11
Violations of Section 12(2)(2} of the Securities Act Against Defendapes Wochovia and
Evergreen Distribulor

52.  Plamtiff repest and reallege each and every allegation above as if sel forth fully
herein. This Coum is brought for violatiou of Section 12(8)(2) of the Securities Aet, 15 U.S.C.

§771{a}(2), ageinst Defendents Wachovia and Evergreen Distributor, each of whom offered and

14
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sold the Fund’s shares or solicited the sale of such stock to the Class by means of he Registration
Statement/Prospecrus. This claim is not bused on and does not sonnd in fraud.

53.  Asset forlh more specifically above, the Registration Statement/Prospecius
improperly set the price for the Fund’s Sheres. and thus included untrue stalements of material
fact and omitted (o state materiel facts pecessary in order 10 make the statements, in light of the
circumstances in which they were made, nol misleading.

54.  The Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class did not know, nor could they
have known, of the untruths or omissions contained in the Registration StatementProspectus,
including that the price of the Fund's Shares were not properly determined,

55.  The defenrdanes named hereie were obligated to make a reasongble and dilipem
investigation of the statements cootained m the Registration Statement/Prospectus, mcludiog the
price of the Fund's Shures, in ensusre that snch statemsents were Irue and that there was po
amission of masetial faci reguited 10 be stated in order 10 make he stalements contained therein
not misicading. Neither of the defendams named in this Count made  reasonable investigation |
o1 possessed reasonapie prounds for the belief thai the prce of the Fund’s Shares was properly
dciermimed or that the statements contained in the Registration Suatement/Prospectus were
securae and complete in al) material vespects.

26.  This claim was brought within one vear afler discovery in this ora related action
of the untruc stakements and omissions in and {rom the Registration Siatement/Prospectus should
have been made Whrough the exercise of reasonable diligence, and within three years of the time
that the securiries upon which this Count 1s hronghi were offered o the pnhlic by way of a

Prospectus,
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57. By reason of the misconduct alleged herein. the defendants named in this Counl
violated Seclion 12(a)}{2) of the Securities Act and are liable 1o the Plainiifts and the other
members of the Class who purchased or acquired the Fund’s Shares by way of the Prospectus,
each of whom las been damaged us a vesult of such violations.

58.  The Platniiffs and the other members of' the Class who purchased the Fund’s
Shares pursuani to the Prospectus hereby seek rescission of their purchases and hereby endes o
the deferdants named in this Coupt thoge Shares, which the Plaintitts and ather members of the
Class conttaue of own, in retura for the consideration paid for tose securities, iogether with
intrest thereon.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE. Plainiifis. on behalf of themselves and the other members of the Class,
pray ivr judgmen as follows:

{2)  Jeclaring \his acuon 1o be a Pleintifl class action properly maintained
pursuant to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, cerifying the Class, and certifyving Plaintifls’
counsel as Class Counsel;

(b}  awarding Plaintifis end the other members of the Class darnages purstunt
1o Secnion 11{(e) of the Securitics Act with respect to the cJaims asserted in Coant 1;

(¢}  awanding Pla:ntiffs and the other members of the Class rescission on
Count 11 10 1he extent they still hold Pund Shares, or if sold, awarding rescissory damages in
acoordance with Section 12(b) of the Securities Acl from Uic defendants named in thar Count;

(d)  awarding Plainliffs and the other membiers of the Class their costs and

expenses of this litgation, incInding reasonable eriormeys’ fees, accountants' fees and experts’

16
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fees and oier costs and disbursements; and
(¢  awarding Plaintifft and the other members of this Class such other and
further relief as roay be just and proper under the circumstances.
JURY TRIALDEMANDED
Plaintiffs hereby demand a trial by jurv.

Dated: August 4, 2008
LAW OFFICE OF PETER A, LAGORIO

Peter A. Lagorio {
Lvnda Carey Paris (
63 Atlandc Avenue
Boston, Massachuserts 02110
Telephone: 61 7367-4200
Fas: 617/227.3384

ABRAHAM, FRUCHTER & TWERSKY, LLP
One Penn Plaza, Smite 2805

New York, New York 10119

Telephone: 212/279-5050

Fax: 212/279-3655

Attorneys for Plaintifis

17
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UNITED BTATEB DISTRICT COURT
DIATRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS
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CERTIFICATION OF ALBERT KRANTZBERG
C

Afbert Krantzborg (“Platntif™) declares, as W the &laims asserted under the federe)

sacurities laws, tha:

L. PlaintfT has reviewed the oomglaint prepared by counsel in the actioo sgainst Evergreen
Uttre Short Opportunities Fund and athers, and has awthorized the Hiling of the complaint
or 1o othevwise add my oame a5 6 leag plaintifl in these proceedings.

2. PlaintiflT did not purobsie the secbrity that is the subject of the complaint a1 the direeton
of Plalnt!f's counse) of in order w partzipate In any privets aclion arising undar Ibe
fedom) securitios laws,

3. Plalntiff is willing m sccve es a repoesentative perty on behalf of a class, including
providing msitmany 8t deposition and irial, if necessary.

4,  During the propased Cless Pariod, Plaintiff excentzd the followlng frensactions In the
ghares of Evergresn Ultra Short Opportunities Fund., See Atmachment A.

5 In the past tree vears, PlairtHT hos not served, nor spugh! 1o rerve, 22 a reptesentslive
party on behalf of a class in an scutan filed under the federal securities laws.

6, Plalstiff will pot aceept payment for serving 2s 8 represenmmive party on bohatf ol a class
beyond Pleintiff s pro rata share of any recovery, except such reasanabla tosts and
expenges (including fosr wages) directly relating w the represertation of the Class as
ardered of epproved by the Court.

[ deelare under penalty of perjury tha the foregoing is brue and corrert. Pxecuted this
day of July, 2008
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CERTIFICATION OF IRENE KRANTZBERG
IN SUPPORT OF CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT

Trene Krantzherg (“Plainitff* declares, os to the claims ezserted under the foderal

seeurliter laws, thel:

i 1.

Ted

"Plalntiff has reviewed the complaint prepared by counsel in the aotion against Evergreen
Ultra Short Opportunities Fund and others, and bas sulhoriaed the fillng of the camplalnl
or to othorwise add my pame as a lead plaintiff in these proceedings.

PlainlfT dld not purchase (he security that is (he subjeet of 1ho complatnl at the direstion

of Plaintiff's covnasl of in order Lo particpate n fhy private acticn arlsing under the
federat secaurilies [awe,

Pla)puff is witling 10 serve a5 e repressotative party oo behe! fof a class, mehading
providing testimany at depositlan aad triad, i nevessary.

During the proposed Class Period, Plaindff executzd the lolowing iransactioas im the
shares oF Evergroen Ultra Short Opportunitiss Fund. Ses Amachimant A.

In the past hoet yoars, Plaintiff hae not served, nor cooght to werve, an a represenintive
purty an beball of u cluss lu en sctiun Hled under the fedetal secwrhies lews.

Plaiatlf will not scoept peyment for serving as a representative party on behalf of a class
boyond Plaintiff®s pro ram shere of sny recovery, except such reasonable cogs ond
cupenses (ineiuding iost wuges) diteetly relating ta the representziion of the Class as
orderod or epproved by the Cowl

1 declare under peaalty of perjwry that the foregolnp s true and correet, Bxetuted (his

*Irene Krenaberg ; \’)

day af July, 2008
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ATTACHMENT A
Reate Acdog Amoupt Price Toal

4718/08 Purchase 5,406 shares $9.25 $50,008
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/ UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS SEC Mail Processing
Section

JAN 084U
Waghington, DC
11

Thomas G. Keefe and Dawn K. Keefe,
individually and on behalf of those
similarly sxtuated

Plaintiffs, CIVIL ACTION NO.

va.

Bvergreen Investment Management Co LLC,
Evergreen Fixed Income Trust, Evergreen
Investment Services, Inc., and Evergreen
Distributor, Inc., Dennis H. Perro, Kasey
Phillips, Charles A. Austin III, Shirley L.
Fulton, K. Dun Gifford, Leroy Keith, Jr.,
Gerald M. McDonnell, Patricia B. Norris,
William Walt Pettit, David M, Richardson,
Russell A. Salton III, Michael S. Scofield,
Richard J. Shima, and Richard K. Wagoner,

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Defendants.

har St Mg S Mgt Nngtl gt gl gt "ttt ettt "t i “mutt’ st "ot it vt st st “cuut”

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
FOR VIOLATION QF THE HE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS LAWS

L Plaintiffs Thomas G. Keefe and Dawn K Keefe (the “Plaintiffs”) bring
this litigation on their own behalf, and in a representative capacity on behalf of a class of
other investors, and make the following allegations based upon an investigation by
Plaintiffs’ counsel of, among other things, publicdly available securities filings, news
articles and other mass media reports, analyst reports, press releases, investor
comimunications and other public statements issued by Evergreen Funds, Evergreen
Invesiments, Wachovia Global Asset Management, Wachovia Corporation, and/or

certain of their officers, .directom or trustees concerning the Evergreen Ultra Short
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Opportunities Fund (the “Fund”) (collectively referred to as “Defendants”), Plaintiffs
believe that substantial additional evidentiary support for Plaintiffs’ altegations will be
obtained after a reasonable opportunity to conduct discovery of the Defendants.
NATURE OF THE ACTION

2 This is a securities class action on behalf of all persons and entities, other
than Defendants and certam other individuals and entities identified below, who, within
three years of the filing of this lawsuit, purchased or otherwise acquired shares of the
Fund pursuant or traceable to a Registration Statement, Prospectus and/or registration
statement amendments and prospectus supplements of the Fund (“Registration
Statement/Prospectus”) and who seek to pursue remedies under Sections 11, 12(a)(2)
and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) (the “Class”).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to 15 USC. §§77k,
771{a)(2) and 770 (Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act). In connection with
the acts complained of, Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, induding, but not limited to, the mails,
interstate telephone communications and the facilities of the national securities markets.

4, This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant
to 28 US.C. §1331 and 15 U.S.C. §77v (Section 22 of the Securities Act),

5. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.5.C. §1391(b) because the
management of the Fund is based out of, and its primary operations are conducted in
this District Indeed, the investment decisions were made and the challenged materially

false and nﬁsleadjng staternents were issued from within this District.
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6. In connection with the acts alleged in this complaint, Defendants, directly
or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, including,
but not limited to, the mails, interstates telephone communications and the facilities of
the national securities markets.

PARTIES

7. Plaintiffs, Thomas G. Keefe and Dawn K. Keefe, acquired 5,144 shares of
the Fund pussuant and/ or traceable to the Registration Statement/Prospectus during
the Class Period. Plaintiffs have been damaged thereby. A certification of Plaintiffs’
purchases is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

8. Defendant Bvergreen Investment Management Company, LLC (“EIMC"),
serves as investment advisor to the Pund. EIMC has a principal place of business at 30
Dan Road, Canton, Massachusetts 02021-2809. EIMC also manages about 90 other
stock, bond, and money market mutual funds and purports to serve more than four
million individual and institutional investora through a broad range of investment
products. As the 25th laz;gest asset management company in the United States, EIMC
employs approximately 300 investment professionals and manages more than $258
billion in assets.

9. Defendant Evergreen Fixed Income Trust (the "Trust"), is a Delaware
statutory trust orgarﬁzed"on September 18, 1997, with its principal place of business at
200 Berkeley Street Boston, Massachusetts 02116, The Trust is an open-end
management investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of

1940, as amended (the "1940 Act").
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10,  Defendant Evergreen Investment Services, Inc. (“EIS”), with its principal
place of business also located at 200 Berkeley Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02116,
distributes Bvergreen mutual funds under the Evergreen InvestmentsS™ service mark.
Evergreen Investments is the brand name under which Wachovia Corporation
conducts its investment management business.

11.  Defendant Evergreen Distributor, Inc. (“EDI"), with its principal place of
business located at 90 Park Avenue, New York, New York 10016, markets the Fund
through various broker-dealers and other financial representatives.

12.  Defendant Dennis H. Ferro is the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Evergreen Investment Company, Inc. and a Principal Executive Officer of the Trust.
Defendant Perro signed various United States Securities & Exchange Commission
("SEC") filings alleged to be materially false and misleading.

13.  Defendant Kasey Phillips is the Principal Financial Officer of the Trust.
Defendant Phillips signed various SEC filings alleged to be materially false and
misleading. .

14,  Defendant éharles A, Austin Il has been a member of the Evergreen
Board of Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Austin signed various SEC
filings alleged to be materially false and misleading,

15.  Defendant Shirley L. Fulton has been a member of the Evergreen Board
of Trustees since 2004. Defendant Pulton signed various SEC filings alleged to be
materially false and misleading,.




Case 1:08-cv-11064-NMG  Document 1 Filed 06/23/2008 Page 5 of 20

16. Defendant K. Dun Gifford has been a member of the Evergreen Board of
Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Gifford signed various SEC filings
alleged to be materially false and misleading.

17.  Defendant Dr. Leroy Keith, Jr. has been a member of the Evergreen
Board of Trustees for all ;elevant periods herein, Defendant Keith signed various SEC
filings alleged to be materially false and misleading.

18.  Defendant Gerald M. McDonnell has been a member of the Evergreen
Board of Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant McDonnell signed various
SEC filings alleged to be materially false and misleading,

19.  Defendant Patricia B. Norris has been a member of the Evergreen Board
of Trustees since 2006. Defendant Norris signed various SEC filings alleged to be
materially false and misleading.

20. Defendant William Walt Pettit has been a member of the Evergreen Board
of Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Pettit signed various SEC filings
alleged to be materially false and misleading.

21.  Defendant David M. Richardson has been a member of the Bvergreen
Board of Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Richardson signed various
SEC filings alleged to be materially false and misleading.

| 22.  Defendant Dr. Russell A, Salton HI has been a member of the Evergreen
Board of Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Salton signed various SEC

filings alleged to be materially false and misleading,.
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23.  Defendant Michael S, Scofield has been a member of the Evergreen Board
of Trustees for all relevz;nt periods herein. Defendant Scofield signed various SEC
filings alleged to be materially false and misleading,

24,  Defendant Richard J. Shima has been a member of the Evergreen Board of
Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Shima signed various SEC filings
alleged to be materially false and misleading.

25.  Defendant Richard K. Wagoner has been a member of the Evergreen
Board of Trustees for all relevant periods herein. Defendant Wagoner signed various
SBC filings alleged to be materially false and misleading,

26. Bach of the Defendants identified in 9 12 - 25 above (“Individual
Defendants”) were responsible for the preparation, review, authorization, signature
and/ or filing of the Registration Statement, Prospectus and/or registration staternent
amendments and .pr_ospectus supplements of the Pund (“Registration
Statement/Prospectus”).

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

27.  Plaintiffs bring this action as a class action pursuvant to Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of the Class. Excluded from the Class are
Defendants, the officers and directors of the Defendant companies at all relevant times,
members of the immediate families of each of the Defendants, any person, firm, trust,
corporation, officer, director or other individual or entity in which any Defendant has a
controlling interest or which is related to or affiliated with any of the Defendants, and

the legal representatives, agents, heirs, successors or assigns and any such excluded

party.
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28.  The members of the Class are 5o numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiffs at
this time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiffs believe
that there are thousands of members in the proposed Class.

29. Owners of record of the Fund and other members of the Class mey be
identified from books and records maintained by Defendants, the Fund, EIS, ED], or the
Fund’s transfer agent. Such owners of record and other class members may be notified
of the pendency of this action by matl, using a form of notice similar to that customarily
used in securities class action litigation.

30.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the membess of the Class as all
members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ conduct in violation of
federal Jaw that is complained of herein.

31.  Plaintiffs do not have any interests antagonistic to, or in conflict with, the
other members of the Class.

32.  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of
the other members of the Class and have retained counsel competent and experienced
in class and securities litigation.

33, Common qtiestions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class
and predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class.
Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

a. Whether Sections 11, 12(a)(2) and 15 of the Securities Act were

violated by Defendants’ actions and/or omissions as alleged herein;
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d.

e.

Whether the Registration Statement, its subsequent amendments,
and the related prospectus and prospectus supplements issued by
Defendants to the investing public in connection with the sale of
shares of the Fund negligently omitted and/or misrepresented
material facts about the Fund, including but not limited to the
Pund’s investment objectives, risk discdlosures, and known risks;
Whethe_;r the Registration Statement, its subsequent amendments,
and the related prospectus and prospectus supplements issued by
Defendants to the investing public in connection with the sale of
shares of the Fund contained untrue statements of material facts
about the Fund, including but not limited to fhe Pund’s investment
objectives, risk disclosures, and known risks;

The extent to which Class members have sustained damages; and

The proper measure of such damages.

34, A dass action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and

efficient adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable.

35. Furthermore, as the damages suffered by individual Class members may

be relatively small compared to the costs of litigation to recover such losses, the

expense and burden of individual litigation makes it impossible for members of the

Class to individually redress the wrongs done to them.

36. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as a class

action.

" SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
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37.  Evergreen Ultra Short Opportunities Fund (f/k/a Evergreen Ultra Short
Bond Fund) (the "Fund") is a diversified series mutual fund of Defendant Evergreen
Fixed Income Trust.

38. The Fund was established on or about May 28, 2003, pursuant to the
effective date of an amendment to a previously filed shelf registration.

39. Pund shares were offered to investors pursuant to the amended
registration statement filed with the SEC as a Form 485BPOS on or about May 23, 2003,
a prospectus and various further registration statement and prospectus amendments
throughout the relevant penod {“Registration Statement/Prospectus”).

40.  On or about June 2, 2003, shares of the Fund began publicly trading. The
Fund issues shares through a variety of classes as follows: Class A, Class B, Class C and
Class 1. Those classes of shares trade under the ticker symbols, respectively, “EUBAX”
for the Class A shares, “EUBBX” for the Class B shares, “EUBCX” for the Class B shares,
and “EUBIX” for the Class I shares.

41.  The Fund calculates per share net asset value for each class of shares and
discloses net asset Fund value on a per share class and a total Fund basis.

42,  Bffective August1, 2005, the Fund changed its name from Evergreen Ultra
Short Bond Fund to Evergreen Ultra Short Opportunities Fund.

43.  The Fund is a mutval fund promoted or marketed by Defendants with a
primary investment objective to “provide current income consistent with preservation
of capital and low principal fluctuation.”

44, The Pund’s Annual Report through the period ending June 30, 2006, filed

with the SEC on Form N-CSR on September 6, 2006, also represented that the Fund's
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investment “strategy is to seek the highest total return by maximizing income and
minimizing price fluctuations....”

45.  These representations and statements are repeated throughout the Pund’s
Registration Statement/Prospectus, Defendants’ marketing materials and other
communications to Fund shareholders, Plaintiffs and Class members.

46, Defendants .l solicited investors to the Fund through written
representations reflecting the relative safety of the investment based upon the stated
investment objective of “preservation of capital and low principal fluctuation.”

47.  Defendants’ representations were effective in appealing to investors, as
reflected in the tremendous growth of the Fund’s assets from approximately $41
million as of June 30, 2003, to over $732 million as of March 31, 2008, their latest
reporting period.

48.  In addition, the influx of such investment capital into the Fund helped
enable Defendants to maintain an increasing and/ or relatively stable per share class net
asset value throughout the Class Period. |

49. In its Post-Effective Amendment No. 39 to the Registration Statement
Form 485 BPOS pursuant to the Securities Act, filed with the SEC on October 26, 2007,
the Fund represented that its primary investment objective was to “provide current
income consi_sﬁent with preservation of capital and low principal fluctuation.” This
statement was repeated throughout the Class Period in, among other places, the
Fund's:

. Annual Report through the period ending June 30, 2007, filed with
the SEC on Form N-CSR on September 4, 2007;
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. Post-Effective Amendment No. 37 to the Registration Statement
Form 485 BPOS pursuant to the Securities Act, filed with the SEC on
October 26, 2006;

. Annual Report through the period ending June 30, 2006, filed with
the SEC on Form N-CSR on September 6, 2006;

’ 2006 Proxy Statement filed with the SEC on Form DEF 14A on
February 8, 2006;

» Post-Effective Amendment No. 34 to the Registration Statement
Form 485 BPOS pursuant to the Securities Act, filed with the SEC on
October 28, 2005;

. Annual Report through the period ending June 30, 2005, filed with
the SEC on Form N-CSR on September 6, 2005; and

. Post-Effective Amendment No. 30 to the Registration Statement
Form 485 BPOS pursuant to the Securities Act, filed with the SEC on
October 28, 2004.

50.  This stated objective, without further disclosure, was materially false and
misleading because the Fund employed an undisclosed high risk strategy that led to
realized losses of approximately eighteen percent (18%) of the net asset value.

51. Moreover, the risk factors and other risk disclosures in the Registration
Statement/Prospectus represented by Defendants in connection with the Fund’s stated
goals, objectives and investment strategy also were materially false and misleading
because they were not sufficient or meaningful to advise investors of the actual risks
associated with investing in the Fund.

52, For examplg, while the Pund’s risk disclosures warned that the Fund’s
investments were subject to tisks of varying degree due to interest rate risk, credit risk,
derivative instrument risk, and mortgage backed security risk, those disclosures were

wholly inadequate because the Fund did not disdose that its specific investment

strategies and practices, as impacted by those risks, entirely undermined the Fund’s

1
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stated investment objective to “provide current income consistent with preservation of
capital and low principal fluctuation.”

53. Indeed, when Defendants announced on June 19, 2008, that the Fund was
dosing and liquidating its assets, Defendants disclosed that the Fund’s total net assets
were only $403 million across all share classes. This is tremendously lower than the
$731.4 million total asset value reported by the Fund just two and one-half months
prior on March 31, 2008,

54.  Moreover, during the relevant period and up through the first week of
June 2008, the Fund maintained relatively stable net asset per share values across all
share classes. Beginning on or about June 9, 2008, however, through the announced
dosing of the Fund on June 19, 2008, the Fund’s per share net asset va]ués declined
precipitously across all share classes. Por example, on June 9, 2008, the per share net
asset values for shares was $9.07 per share, and the per-share value had remained
relatively stable throughout the Class Period trading in a range between $9 and $10 per
gshare, By the time Defendants announced the closing and liquidation of the Fund on
June 19, 2008, the disclosed per share net asset value had plummeted to close at $7.48
per share. “

55.  Plaintiffs and other members of the Class were without knowledge of the
facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein and could not have reasonably
discovered those facts prior to June 19, 2008, when Defendants announced the closing ‘

and liquidation of the Pund.
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56.  As reflected by the liquidation of the Fund and the decline in net asset
value, Fund investors realized tremendous losses of approximately 18% in net asset
value.

COUNT1
Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act
Against All Defendants

57.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every of the foregoing allegations
above.

58.  CountI is brought pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15USLC. §
77k, on behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class, against all Defendants,

59.  The Registration Statement/Prospectus, corresponding amendments and
prospectuses and prospectus amendments, as well as other materials filed with the SEC,
were inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue statements of material facts, omitted
to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and omitted
to state mateﬁal facts required to be stated therein.

60.  Defendant Evergreen Fixed Income Trust is the registrant for the shares
of the Fund. The Defendants named herein were responsible for the contents and
dissemination of the Registration Staterment.

61.  As issuer of the shares, Defendants are strictly liaﬁle to Plaintiffs and the
Class for the misstatements and omissions.

62.  None of the Defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or
possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the
Registration Statement w;re true and without omissions of any material facts and were

not misleading.
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63. By reasons of the conduct herein alleged, each Defendant violated, and/or
controlled a person who violated, Section 11 of the Securities Act.

64.  Plaintiffs ac_guired shares of the Fund during the Class Period and
pursuant to the Regisiration Statement/Prospectus.

65.  Plaintiffs and the Class have sustained damages. The value of the shares
of the Fund dedined substantially subsequent to and due to Defendants’ violations.

66. At the times they purchased or otherwise acquired shares of the Fund,
Plaintiffs and other members of the Class were without knowledge of the facts
concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein and could not have reasonably
discovered those facts prior to June 19, 2008, when Defendants announced the closing
and liquidation of the Fund.

67.  Less than one year has elapsed from the time that Plaintiffs discovered or
reasonably could have discovered the facts upon which this complaint is based to the
fime that ﬁﬁnﬁﬂa filed this Complaint. Less than three years elapsed between the time
that the securities upon which this Count is brought were offered to the public and the
time Plaintiffs filed this Complaint.

COUNT I
Violations of Section 12(a}{2) of the Securities Act
Against All Defendants

68.  Plainiiffs repeat and reallege each and every of the foregoing allegations
above.

69. Count II is brought pursuant to Section 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act on

behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class, against all Defendants.

14




Case 1.08-cv-11064-NMG  Document 1 Filed 06/23/2008 Page 15 of 20

70.  Defendants were sellers and offerors and/or solicitors of purchasers of
the shares of the Fund offered pursuant to the Registration Statement/Prospectus.

71.  The Registration Statement/Prospectus contained untrue statements of
material facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not
misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein

72, The Individtial Defendants’ actions of solicitation included participating in
the preparation of the false and misleading Registration Statement/Prospectus and
participating in marketing the shares of the Fund to investors.

73.  Defendants owed to the purchasers of the ghares of the Fund, including
Plaintiffs and other Class members, the duty to make a reasonable and diligent
investigation of the statements contained in the Registration Statement/Prospectus to
ensure that such statements were true and that there was no orrlﬁssion to state a
material fact required to be stated in order to make the statements contained therein
not misleading. :

74.  Defendants in the exercise of reasonable care should have known of the
migstatements and omissions contained in the offering materials as set forth above,

75.  Plaintiffs and other members of the Class purchased or otherwise
acqm‘:‘emd shares of the Fund pursuant to the defective Registration
Statement/Prospectus.  Plaintiffs did not know, or in the exercise of reasonable
diligence could not have known, of the untruths and omissions contained in
Defendants’ solicitation rmaterials.

76. By reason ‘of the conduct alleged herein, these Defendants violated,

and/ or controlled a person who violated, § 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act.
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77.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs and members of the Class who hold shares of the
Fund have the right to rescind and recover the consideration paid for their shares of the
Ultra-Short Fund and hereby elect to rescind and tender those shares to the Defendants
sued herein

78.  Plaintiffs and/or Class members who have sold their shares of the Fund
are entitled fo rescissory (iamages.

COUNT 11l
Violations of Section 15 of the Securities Act
Against the Individual Defendants

79.  Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every of the foregoing allegations
above.

80. Count Il is brought pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act on behalf
of Plaintiffs and the Class, against the Individual Defendants.

81.  Bach of the-Individual Defendants was a contro! person of the Fund by
virtue of his or her position as a trustee and/or senior officer of the Trust, EMIC, the
Fund, or other Defendant companies.

82. The Individual Defendants each had a series of direct and/or indirect
business and/or personal relationships with other directors and/or officers and/or
major shareholders of the Fund.

83. Each of the Individual Defendants was a culpable participant in the
violations of Sections 11 and 12(a)(2) of the Securities Act alleged in Counts I and 1I
above, based on their having signed the Registration Statement,/Prospectus and having
otherwise participated in the process which allowed the sale of the shares of the Fund to

be successfully completed.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray for relief and judgment, as follows:

A Detenmnmg that this action is a proper class action and certifying
Plaintiffs as a Class representative under Rule 23 of the Pederal Rules of Civil
Procedure;

B. Awarding compensatory damages in favor of Plaintiffs and the other
Class members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained
as a result of Defendants’ wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including
interest thereon;

C.  Awarding Plaintiffs and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses
incurred in this action, including counsel fees and expert fees;

D.  Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages as to Count II;

E.  Such equitable/injunctive or other relief as deemed appropriate by the
Court.
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiffs hereby demand a triat by jury.

DATED: June_ D9GX__, 2008
W
4

oyd Page
Georgta Bar No{55
James M, Evangelista

Georgia Bar No. 707807
David J. Worley
Georgia Bar No. 776665
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1040 Crown Pointe Parkway
Suite 1050

Atlanta, Georgia 30338
Telephone (770) 673-0047
Facsimile (770) 673-0120
jbpage@pageperry.com
jevangelista@pageperry.com
dworley@pageperry com

MADDOX HARGETT & CARUSQO, P.C.
Thomas A. Hargett

10100 Lantern Road

Suite 150

Fishers, Indiana 46037

Telephone (317) 598-2040

Facsimile (317) 598-2050
tahargett@mhclaw.com

DAVID P. MEYER & ASSOCIATES, CO. L.P.A.
David P. Meyer

Matthew R. Wilson

1320 Dublin Road

Suite 100

Columbus, Ohio 43215

Telephone (614) 224-6000

Facsimile (614) 224-6066

dmeyer@dmlaws.com

mwilson@dmlaws.com

PYLE, ROME, LICHTEN,
EHRENBERG & LISS-RIORDAN, PC

Aol Ay
Betsy Ehrenberg, BBO # 554628
18 Tremont Street, Suite 500
Boston, MA 92108
Telephone (617) 367-7200
Facsimile (617) 367-4820

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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David P, Mayer & Associotes Co., LPA
1320 Debiin Road, Sis (00

Colurmiass, Ohiv 43215 Exhibit A
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SEC Mail Proces
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS Serhnr

JAN 08 4U0

sing

GENEVIEVE M. MIERZWINSKI, on

behalf of herself and all others similarly | Case No. Washington, DG
situated, 114
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiff,
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
V8.
EVERGREEN FIXED INCOME

TRUST, EVERGREEN INVESTMENT
SERVICES, INC., EVERGREEN
INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT
COMPANY, LLC, WACHOVIA
CORPORATION, DENNIS H. FERRO
AND KASEY PHILLIPS

Defendants.

Plainuff, by her undersigned attomneys, alleges the following based upon the investigation
of plaintiff’s counsel, which included inspection of United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) filings by the Evergreen Fixed Income Trust (the “Evergreen Trust™), and
press releases and other public statements issued by the Evergreen Trust, media reports about the
Evergreen Trust and its constituent funds. Plaintiff believes that substantial additional
evidentiary support exists and additional evidentiary support will be determined to exist for the
allegations set forth herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of herself and all others
similarly situated who purchased all classes of shares of the Evergreen Ultra Short Opportunities

Fund (the “Fund”) during the period between October 28, 2005 and June 18, 2008, inclusive (the
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“Class Peniod™). It was recently announced that the Fund will be liquidated with shareholders of
record as of June 18, 2008 receiving a cash distribution based on a $7.48 share net asset value,
calculated after the close of business on June 18, 2008. The amount to be paid to shareholders of
the Fund in the liquidation is significantly lower than the price at which the Fund’s shares were
offered for sale to the public during the Class Period and only seven business days earlier on
June 9, 2008, when they were offered at $9.07 per share. Defendants made materially false or
misleading statements with respect to the safety and stability of the Fund’s net asset value
(“NAV”) and the NAV of the Fund duning the Class Period. As a result, Plaintiff and the
members of the Class have suffered damages as the Funds’ NAV dropped precipitously in value
and its shares were ultimately cashed out by the Fund at $7.48 per share.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

2. The claims alleged herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 11 and 15 of the
Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C §§77k and 770.

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to
Section 22(a) of the Secunties Action (15 U.S.C. §77v(a)) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331).

4, Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to Section 22(a) of the Securities
Act, 15 U.8.C §77v(a), and 28 U.S.C §1391(b). Many of the acts and transactions alleged herein,
including preparation and dissemination of the false and misleading Registration Statements and
Prospectuses described herein, used to sell the Fund’s shares occurred in substantial part in this
District. Additionally, the principal place of business of the Defendants is within this District.

5. In connection with the acts, conduct and other wrongs alleged in this Complaint,

Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce
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including but not limited to, the United States mails, interstate telephone communications and
the facilities of the national secunties exchange.
PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Genevieve M. Mierzwinski purchased shares of the Fund pursuant to
and/or traceable to the Registration Statements at issue and has been damaged thereby.

7. Defendant Evergreen Fixed Income Trust (“Evergreen Trust”) is a Delaware
organized entity that has its principal place of business at 200 Berkeley Street, Boston,
Massachusetts. It is the i1ssuer of the shares of the Funds purchased by Plaintiff and the members
of the Class.

8. Defendant Evergreen Investment Management Company, LLC (“Evergreen
Investments”) is the investment advisor of the Fund. It is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Defendant Wachovia Corporation (“Wachowvia”).

9. Defendant Evergreen Invesiment Services, Inc. (“Evergreen Services”) was the
underwriter and distributor of the shares of the Fund sold by Evergreen Trust. Evergreen
Services marketed the Fund through broker-dealers and others primarily affiliated with
Wachovia. The principal place of business of Evergreen Investments and Evergreen Services is
200 Berkeley Street, Boston, Massachusetts.

10.  Defendant Wachovia is a diversified financial services company and one of the
largest such providers in the United States. It has retail and commercial banking operations in 21
states and nationwide retail brokerage, mortgage lending and auto finance businesses. Its
headquarters are located at 301 South College Street, Suite 4000, One Wachovia Center,
Charlotte, North Carolina. Evergreen Investments is the entity through which Wachovia

operates its investment management business.




-
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11.  Defendant Dennis H. Ferro (“Ferro™} has been, at all relevant times, the President
and Chief Executive Office of Evergreen Investments and the Principal Executive Officer of
Evergreen Trust. He signed the Registration Statements issued by Evergreen Trust during the
Class Period, which are maternially false or misleading.

12.  Defendant Kasey Phillips (“Phillips”) has been, at all relevant times, the Principal
Financial Officer of Evergreen Trust. He signed the Registration Statements issued by Evergreen
Trust during the Class Period, which are materially false or misleading.

13.  Defendants Ferro and Phillips are referred to herein, at times, as the “Individual
Defendants.”

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

14, Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of a class (the “Class) consisting of all persons who
purchased shares of the Fund issued pursuant to or traceable to the Registration Statements filed
with the SEC by Evergreen Trust on October 28, 2005, October 26, 2006, and October 26, 2007,
during the Class Period and were damaged thereby. Excluded from the Class are Defendants
herein, members of the immediate family of each of the Defendants, the officers and directors of
the Defendant entitles at all relevant times, any person, firm, trust, corporation, officer, director,
or individual or entity in which any Defendant has a controlling interest or which is related to or
affiliated with any of the Defendants, and the legal representatives, agents, affiliates, heirs,
successors-interest or assigns of any such excluded party.

15.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is
impractical. While the precise number of Class members is unknown to plaintiffs at this time and

can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, they are believed to number in the
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thousands. The members of the Class may be identified from books and records maintained by
Defendants, the Fund, or the Fund’s transfer agent, Evergreen Service Company, LLC. Class
members may be notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using a form of notice similar to
that customarily used in securities class action litigation.

16.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class as all
members of the Class are similarly affected by Defendants’ conduct in violation of federal law
complained of herein.

17.  Plaintiff does not have any interests antagonistic to, or in conflict with, the other
members of the Class.

18.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interest of the other
members of the Class and has retained counsel competent and experience in class and securities
litigation.

19.  Questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class which
predominate over questions which may affect individual Class members include: (a) whether
defendants violated Sections 11 and 15 of the Securities Act; (b) whether the Registration
Statements at issue misrepresented material facts; (c) whether the Registration Statements at
issue omitted matenal facts necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading; and (d) whether the members of the Class have
sustained damages proximately caused by the alleged misrepresentations and omissions, and, if
so, what is the appropriate measure of damages.

20. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable.

Further, because the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the
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expense and burden of individual litigation make it impossible for the Class members
individually to redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management

of this action as a class action.

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

21.  The Fund is an open-end mutual fund with its shares being offered on a
continuous basis to the public pursuant 1o registration statements filed with the SEC. during the
Class Period, Evergreen Trust filed Registration Statements with the SEC for the sale of all
classes of share in the Funds on October 28, 2005, October 26, 2006, and October 26, 2007 (the
“Registration Statements”).

22.  The Registration Statements covered four classes of shares, each with its own
ticker symbol -- (NASDAQ: EUBAX, EUBBX, EUBCX, EUBIX). The reported price reflected
the NAV of the Fund. As a result, the purchase and sales price for shares in the Fund were based
upon the reported NAV,

23, In this regard, the Registration Statements stated that the NAV is calculated
“using the value of the Fund’s assets as of 4:00 p.m. ET on each day the New York Stock
Exchange...1s open for regular trading” by “adding up the Fund’s total assets, subtracting alt
liabilities, and then dividing the result by the total number of shares outstanding.” In addition,
they stated that: “the price per share that you pay when you purchase shares of a Fund, or the
amount per share that you receive when you sell shares of a Fund, is based on the next NAV
calculated after your purchase or sale order is received (after taking into account any applicable
sales charges) and all required information is provided.”

24. At the commencement of the Class Period, October 28, 2005, the Fund’s closing

price was $9.83 for each class of shares. On the dates of the Registration Statements of October
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26, 2006 and October 26, 07, the NAV was $9.76 and $9.65 for each class of shares,
respectively.

25.  The Registration Statements represented that the Fund’s investment goal was “to
provide current income with preservation of capital at low principal fluctuation.” Consistent
with these goals, and its relatively stable NAV, investors poured significant sumns into the Fund
allowing it to grow from § 641 million as of June 30, 2005 in net assets to $741 million as of
December 31, 2007.

26.  Regarding valuing the Fund’s investments, the Registration Statements stated:

A Fund must determine the value of the securities in its portfolio in order to
calculate its NAV. A Fund generally values portfolio securities by using current
market prices. Money market securities and short-term debt securities that mature
in 60 days or less, however, are generally valued at amortized cost, which
approximates market value.

Valuing securities at a “fair value”. If a market price for a secunty is not readily

available or is deemed unreliable, a Fund will use a “fair value” of the security as

determined under policies established and reviewed by the Board of Trustee...
* * *

Debt securities with more than 60 days to maturity. A Fund will generally value
debt securities that mature in more than 60 days for which market prices are
unavailable by using matrix pricing or other methods provided by an independent
pricing service or other service, that typically take into consideration such factors
as similar security prices, yield, maturities, liquidity and ratings.

27.  These statements were matenally false or misleading because the NAV was
inaccurately calculated because the valuations of various securities held by the Fund, including
securities whose value depended on the value of sub-prime secunties, did not reflect the value at
which the securities could be sold on a current basis.

28.  The Registration Statements hightighted the safety of investing in the Fund based

upon its objective of providing current income while still preserving capital and having low

principal fluctuation by representing that the Fund principally invested in “investment grade
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securities” which were identified as being “rated in the top four rating categories (e.g., BBB/Baa
or above) by a nationally recognized statistical ratings organization.” Moreover, the Registration
Statements stated that the Fund intended to maintain “an average credit quality of Aa3, as
defined by Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. or an equivalent rating by another nationally
recognized statistical ratings organization.

29.  These statements were materially false or misleading because the Fund in fact,
employed a strategy of investing in highly risky securities that, during the Class Period, were
illiquid or otherwise became difficult to value. The Fund primarily invested in commercial and
restdential fixed and variable rate mortgage-backed securities, including collateralized mortgage
obligations and other mortgage-related investments, and auction-rate securities, Many of these
secunties were illiquid, had erratic pricing or had no reliable market quotation.

30. Mortgage-backed securities known as collateralized debt obligations (“CDOs™)
bundled bonds or loans that were typically sliced into several parts or divided into tranches
purportedly dependent on risk. The market value of the CDO depended on the flow of principal
and interest paid by the borrower whose mortgage served as the underlying collateral. While the
country’s housing boom was occurring, the value of CDOs backed by mortgages remained stable
because borrowers, rather than defaull, were able to refinance because housing prices were
typically increasing. As housing prices began to level off or decline, however, more borrowers
were falling begin dint her mortgage payments, were unable to refinance and the value of CDOS,
which were backed by such loans, began to decrease. In addition, as adjustable rate mortgages
began increasing the interest rates borrowers had to pay, defaults began increasing, which

resulted in less funds going to the CDOs.
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31.  As the credit crisis deepened during the summer of 2007, CDOs and other
mortgage-backed securities began to lose value. In addition, it became more difficult to
determine the accurate value of various investments as, in many cases, no market existed for
such securities.

32.  Defendants solicited investors and sold shares of the Fund pursuant to the
Registration Statements based on false representations as to the safelly and stability of the Fund
and at inflated share prices.

33, OneJune 19, 2008, Evergreen Investments announced that the Board of Trustees
of Evergreen Funds approved of a plan to liquidate the Fund. Shareholders of record as of June
18, 2008 were to recetve a cash distribution based on a $7.48 per share NAV, which was
calculated after the close of business on June 18, 2007, representing a decline in the NAV of the
Fund from $9.54 per share as of December 31, 2007, a decline of approximately 22%.

COUNT I

Violations of Section 11 of the Securities Act Against Defendant Evergreen Trust,
Defendant Evergreen Services and the Individual Defendants

34.  Plantiff repeats and realleges each and every allegation above as if set fort fully
herein.

35.  This Count is brought by Plaintiff pursuant to Section 11 of the Securities Act, 15
U.8.C. § 77k, on behalf of the members of the Class each of whom purchased shares in the Fund
issued pursuant to or traceable to one or more of the Registration Statements filed by Evergreen
Trust.. This claim is not based on and does not sound in fraud and expressly excludes any
element of any paragraph that alleges that defendants' misconduct was done intentionally,
knowingly or with reckless disregard for the truth and any element of a paragraph that otherwise

sounds in fraud.
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36.  Plainuff acquired shares in the Fund pursuant to or traceable to each of the
Registration Statements.

37.  The Registration Statements were inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue
statements of matertal facts, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made
not misleading, and concealed and failed adequately to disclose matenial facts, as set forth above.

38.  Evergreen Trust is the issuer of the shares of the Fund issues pursuant to the
Registration Statements. As the issuer, Evergreen Trust is strictly liable to Plaintiff and the
members of the Class for the misstatements in, and the omissions from, the Registration
Statements.

39.  Each Individual Defendant signed each of the Registration Statements and
Evergreen Services was the underwriter of each of the offerings of shares subject to each
Registration Statement pursuant to a Principal Underwriting Agreement between Evergreen
Trust and Evergreen Services.

40.  None of the Individual Defendants nor Evergreen Services made a reasonable
investigation or possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statemenis contained in the
Registration Statements detailed above were true and without omissions of any material facts and
were not misleading. The Individual Defendants and Evergreen Services, in the exercise of
reasonable care, should have known of the material misstatements and omissions contained in
the Registration Statements as set forth herein.

41, Plaintiff and the members of the Class who purchased shares in the Fund issued
pursuant to or traceable 10 one or more of the Registration Statements have sustained damages, to

be computed in accordance with Section 11(e) of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C §§77k(e).

10
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42.  Neither Plaintiff nor any member of the Class knew, or by the reasonable exercise
of care could have known, of the facts conceming the inaccurate and misleading statements and
omissions alleged herein. Less than one year has elapsed from the time that Plaintiff discovered
or reasonably could have discovered the facts upon which this Complaint is based. Less than
three years have elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this claim is brought
were offered to the public and the filing of this Complaint.

43, In connection with the sale of shares issued pursuant to the Registration
Statements, the defendants named in this count, directly or indirectly, used the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce and the United States Mails.

44. By reason of the foregoing, the defendants named in this count have violated
Section 11 of the Securities Act and are hable to Plaintiff and the members of the Class who
purchased shares 1n the Fund pursuant to and/or traceable to one or more of the Registration
Statements, each of whom has been damaged by reason of such violations.

COUNT It

Violation of Section 15 of the Securities Act Against Defendants Wachovia and Evergreen
Investments

45.  Plantiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth above as though fully set
forth herein,

46,  This Claim is brought by Plaintiff pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, 15
U.S.C. § 770, on behalf of the members of the Class. This ¢claim is not based on and does not
sound in fraud and expressly excludes any element of any paragraph that alleges that defendants’
misconduct was done intentionally, knowingly or with reckless disregard for the truth and any

element of a paragraph that otherwise sounds in fraud.

11
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47.  Each of the defendants named in this Count were control persons of Evergreen
Trust by virtue of the following facts:

a. Evergreen Investments was, at all relevant times, the investment advisor for
the Fund, and responsible for all of the investments made by the Fund and
their valuation. In addition, defendant Ferro was, at all relevant times, the
President and Chief Executive Office of Evergreen Investments and the
Principal Executive Officer of Evergreen Trust.

b. Wachovia is the corporate parent of Evergreen Investments and thus
controlled and had the abihty to control Evergreen Trust through Evergreen
Investments.

48.  Neither of these defendants made a reasonable investigation or possessed
reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration Statements
detailed above were true and devoid of any omissions of material fact. Therefore, by reason of
their positions of control over the Evergreen Trust, as alleged herein, pursuant to Section 15 of
the Securities Act, each of these defendants is liable joinily and severally with and to the same
extent that Evergreen Trust is liable to Plaintiff and the members of the Class as a result of the
wrongful conduct alleged herein.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on her own behalf and on behalf of the Class, prays for relief
and judgment, as follows:
A. Declaring this action to be a proper class action pursuant to Rule 23(a} and (b) (3)

of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein;

12
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B. Awarding Plaintiff and the other members of the Class damages in an amount that
may be proven at trial, together with interest thereon;

C. Awarding Plaintiff and the members of the Class pre-judgment and post-judgment
interest, as well as reasonable attomeys' fees, expert witness fees and other costs; and

D. Awarding such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury.

DATED: August 18, 2008 /s/ Leslie R. Stemn
Leslie R. Stern, Esq. (BBO# 631201)
Jeffrey C. Block, Esq. (BBO# 6007470
BERMAN DEVALERIO PEASE
TABACCO BURT & PUCILLO
One Liberty Square, 8* Floor
Boston, MA 02109
(617) 542-8300

Jeffrey A. Klafter, Esq.

KLAFTER OLSEN & LESSER LLP
1311 Mamaroneck Ave., Suite 220
White Plains, NY 10605

(914) 997-5656

Cyrus Mehri

Mehn & Skalet, PLLC

1250 Connecticut Avenue NW
Suite 300

Washington, DC 20036
(202)-822-5100

Attorneys for Plaintiff

13
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Case 1:08-cv-11435-NMG  Document 1-2  Filed 08/19/2008 Page 2 of 2

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

Title of casa {name of first party on each side only) Genevieve Mierzwinski v. Evergreen !ncome Trust

Category in which the case belongs based upon the numbered nature of sult code listed on the civil cover sheet, (See local
rute 48.1(a)(1)).

l. 160, 410, 470, 535, R.23, REGARDLESS OF NATURE OF SUIT.

[18 195, 196, 368, 400, 440, 441.446, 540, 550, 555, 625, 710, 720, 730, *Also complete AQ 120 or AQ 121
740, 760, 791, 820", 830", 840*, B50, 890, 892-894, 895, 950. for patent, trademark or copyright cases

RSN

t, 110, £20, 130, 140, 151, 190, 218, 230, 240, 245, 280, 310,
315, 320, 330, 340, 345, 350, 355, 360, 362, 365, 370, 371,
380, 385, 450, B91.

220, 422, 423, 430, 460, 480, 400, 510, 530, 610, 620, 630, 640, 650, 660,
890, 810, 861-865, 870, B71, 875, 900.

Ol O
=<

v, 150, 152, 153.

Title and number, if any, of related cases. {Sce local rule 40.1(g}). If more than one prior related case has been filed in this
district please indicate the title and number of the first filed case in this court.

Themas G. Keefe vs. Evergreen Investment Management Co. LLC

Has a prior action between the same partios and based on the same claim evor boen filed in this court?

YES [_'___] NO

Does the comptlalnt in this case question the constitutionality of an act of congress affecting the public Interest? (See 28 USC

§2403)
YES [:] NO
ves [ | NO D

Is this case roquired to be hoard and determined by a district court of threo judges pursuant to title 28 USC §22847

YES D NO

Do all of the parties In this action, excluding governmental agencies of the united states and the Commonwaealth of
Massachusetts (“governmental agencies”), residing In Massachusetts reside in the same division? - {See Local Rule 40.1(d)).

YES D NO

if s, is the U.S.A. or an officer, agent or employee of the U.S. a party?

A, If yas, in which division do_all of the non-governmental parties reside?
Eastern Division D GCentral Division D Wastern Division D
B. If no, in which division do the majority of the plaintlffs or the only parties, excluding governmental agencies,

residing In Massachusetts reside?

Eastern Division Central Division D Woestern Division D

If filing a Notice of Removal - are thera any motions pending in the state court requiring the attention of this Court? (K yes,
submit a separate sheet identifying the motions)
ves [ ] no [7]

(PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT)
ATTORNEY's Name _ Jefirey A. Klafter

ADDRESS 1311 Mamaroneck Ave, Suite 220 White Plains, NY 10605
TELEPHONE No. 914-997-2444

{CategoryForm.wpd - 5/2/05)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

1. Title of case (name of first party on each side only} Genevieve Mierzwinski v, Evergreen Income Trust

2. Category in which the case belongs based upon the numbered nature of suit code listed on the civil cover sheet. (See local
rule 40.1(a}1)).

C [N 160, 410, 470, 535, R.23, REGARDLESS OF NATURE OF SUIT.
V n. 195, 196, 368, 400, 440, 441-446, 540, 550, 555, 625, 710, 720, 730, *Also complete ADQ 120 or AD 121
st 740, 790, 791, 820", 830", 840", 850, B90, 892-894, 895, 950. for patent, trademark or copyright cases
E n, 110, 120, 130, 140, 181, 190, 210, 230, 240, 245, 290, 310,
; 316, 320, 330, 340, 345, 350, 3566, 360, 362, 366, 370, 371,

380, 386, 450, 891.

I'-: v, 220, 422, 423, 430, 460, 480, 490, §10, 530, 610, 620, 630, 640, 650, 660,
""" 690, 810, 861-866, 870, 871, 875, 900,

E: V. 150, 162, 1563,

3, Title and number, if any, of related cases. {See local rule 40.1(g)}. If more than one prior related case has been filed in this
district please indicate the title and number of the first filed case in this court.

Thomas G. Keefe vs. Evergresn Investment Management Co, LLC

4, Has a prior action between the same parties and based on the same claim ever been filed in this court?
YES I i NO ,/

6. Does the complaint in this case question the constitutionality of an act of congress affecting the public interest? {See 28 USC

§2403)
YES E No i/

ves [ ] No ]

6. Is this case required to be heard and determined by a district court of three judges pursuant to title 28 USC §22847

YES [_ NO "7]

7. Do all of the parties in this action, excluding governmental agencies of the united states and the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts (“governmental agencies”), residing in Massachusetts reside in the same division? - (See Local Rule 40.1(d)).

YES [: NO "Z]

If so, is the U.S.A. or an officer, agent or employee of the U.5. a party?

A, It yes, in which division do all of the non-governmental parties reside?
Eastern Division :j Central Division [““i Western Division 2
B. i no, in which division do the majority of the plaintiffs or the only parties, excluding governmental agencies,

residing in Massachusetts reside?

Eastern Division L{] Central Division L“: Western Division U

8, Iffiling a Notice of Removal - are there any motions pending in the state court requiring the attention of this Court? (If yes,
submit a separate sheet identifying the motions)
YES C NO '_]

(PLEASE TYPE OR PRINT)

ATTORNEY'S NAME Les”e R. Stern

ADDREss One Liberty Square, Boston, MA 02109
TELEPHONE NO. 617-542-8300

(CategoryFormwpd - 5/2/05)
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EVERGREEN ULTRA SHORT OPPORTUNITIES FUND
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS

Genevieve M Mierzwinskl (“Plaintiff’) duly swears and says, as 1o
the claims asserted under the federal securities laws, that:

1. I have retained Mehri & Skalet, PLLC and Klafter Olsen & Lesser
LLP as my counsel, reviewed the complaint, and aythorized the filing of a substantially
similar complaint on my behalf. I understand that my counsel may join with other qualified
counse] to prosecute this case.

2. The shares that are the subject of this action were not purchased at
the direction of plaintiff's counsel or in order to participate in this private action.

3. PlaintifY is willing to serve as a representative party on behalf of the
class, including providing testimony at deposition and trial, if necessary,

4, The transactions in the shares that are the subject of this action
during the Class Period are as follows:

Number of Shares  Price Per
Datz Purchased Sharg

See affuchment (3 Paﬁe.s)

Date Number of Shares  Price Per
Sold Share

See attachment (3 pages)



Aug 15 ER98 1 1R-BRAN435NMEnTEBBAMent 1-4 _ Filed 08442088 oFage 2 of

b Plaintiff has not sought to serve as a class representative in more than five class
actions filed under the securities laws in the last three (3) years. Other than this action,
Plaintiff has sought to be appointed a leed plaintiff in the following action(s):

Action Daig

NONE

6. Plaintiff will not accept any payment for serving as a representative
party on behalf of the class beyond the Plaintiff's pro rata share of any recovery, except as
ordered or approved by the Court for reasonable costs and expenses (including lost wages)

directly relating to the representation of the class.

[ declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of United States that the

foregoing is true and correct. Executed this _/ < day of August 2008, at

Watecbory  Conn .

%*’W—LQ ‘%ﬂﬂfa—“"”‘"‘/&: -

Plaintiff's signature

P.
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